Comparing the consenting and nonconsenting populations in BIOMAK

A side project in the BIOMAK study by the dept. of Medical Biochemistry at St Olavs hospital

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Gustav Mikkelsen for offering me a position in BIOMAK in 2021. Furthermore, for being an excellent supervisor both when it comes to professional specifics and social matters. A big thank you to my cosupervisors Ingrid Hov Odsæter for being a role model in life, and to Bjørnar Grenne for always answering my idiot questions in the matter of minutes. Thank you also to my colleagues at the Department of Medical Biochemistry for taking me in and including me in discussions on subjects I know nothing about. I have learned a whole lot from all of you!

The biggest thank you goes to my family. To my husband Aleksander who pushes me to excel, and always knows how to fulfill my needs. To my two wonderful children, Augusta and Georg, who teach me what is actually important in life. Thank you also to our extended family and friends for all the help you give us. It takes a village!

Table of contents

Acknowledgements
Table of contents2
Abstract
Sammendrag3
Introduction
Materials and methods4
Main population4
Inclusion and data collection4
LIST OF ICD-10 DIAGNOSTIC GROUPS:
Heart relevant diagnostic groups:5
Differential diagnoses of interest:5
Relevant comorbidity:6
Anonymity6
Study populations
Statistical analyses
Confidence intervals6
Results
The study population6
Gender and age differences7
Differences in prevalence of disease8
Death
Discussion11
Conclusion:
References:12
Appendix:14
Appendix 1:14
Appendix 2:14
Appendix 3:

Abstract

The BIOMAK project is a prospective study of the diagnostic accuracy for cardiac troponin I analyzed by different methods and compared to diagnostics based on troponin T. Non-responders are a common issue in large studies and can be source of so-called nonresponse bias, where the respondents and non-respondents differ so much that the interpretation of the results of the research are affected, in that the external validity of the findings are weakened. To prevent this from happening, it is necessary to compare the responding and non-responding populations. In the BIOMAK project, patients were included by responding to a letter sent by post, but data about the patients were also registered in the hospital's systems. We have extracted data about the patients age, gender, and discharge diagnoses, and compared the responding and non-responding population on this.

The results show that the respondents had more chronic cardiac diagnoses, such as arrythmias and ischemic diseases, than non-respondents. The young and the old responded less frequently, and more men than women responded. There were small differences between non-respondents and respondents, and there is therefore a strong possibility that the findings in BIOMAK are representative for the general population of patients admitted to hospital with suspected ischemic heart disease.

Sammendrag

BIOMAK-studien er en prospektiv studie av diagnostisk nøyaktighet av hjertespesifikk troponin I, målt med forskjellige metoder og sammenlignet med diagnostikk basert på troponin T. Ikke-respondenter er et kjent problem i store studier, og kan være kilde til skjevhet i resultatene (på engelsk kalt nonresponse bias), hvor ulikhetene mellom respondentene og ikke-respondentene er så store at gyldigheten av resultatene i forskningen påvirkes, i det at den eksterne validiteten svekkes. For å unngå at dette skjer, er det nødvendig å sammenligne det responderende utvalget med det ikke-responderende utvalget, i denne studien den samtykkende og den ikke-samtykkende populasjonen.

I BIOMAK-prosjektet ble pasienter blant annet inkludert ved å svare på et brev de ble tilsendt per post, men data om pasientene er også registrert i sykehusets datasystemer. Vi har ekstrahert data om pasientenes alder, kjønn og diagnoser og sammenlignet ikke-respondentene og respondentene basert på dette..

Resultatene viser at den samtykkende befolkningen har mer kroniske kardiologiske sykdommer, slik som arytmier og iskemisk sykdom. Den yngre og den eldre befolkningen svarte mindre, og større andel av menn enn kvinner samtykket. Forskjellene mellom ikke-respondenter og respondenter var små, og det er derfor en høy sannsynlighet for at funnene i BIOMAK er representative for den generelle befolkningen av pasienter innlagt på sykehus med mistenkt iskemisk hjertesykdom.

Introduction

Troponin is a protein complex involved in muscle contraction in skeletal and heart muscle cells. There are several types of troponins; troponin T, I and C, and all have different subgroups. Troponin I and T exist in heart specific types, cardiac types. When damaged, heart muscle cells (cardiomyocytes) release – amongst others – troponins into the bloodstream, and the concentration of cardiac troponin in blood is one of the diagnostic criteria for acute myocardial infarction (AMI) ⁽¹⁾. Per today, St Olavs Hospital in Trondheim uses cardiac troponin T (cTnT) on suspicion of acute coronary syndrome.

Biomarkers have an important role in medical diagnostics, and troponin has a decisive role in cases with suspicion of acute coronary disease. An AMI with ST elevation on ECG (STEMI) will in most cases be detected and treated because of said changes on ECG. For an AMI without ST elevations (NSTEMI), chest pain and a typical dynamic of TnT are diagnostic criteria ⁽¹⁾. The dynamic of TnT in an AMI is a typical "rise-and-fall" pattern; TnT elevates the first 2-3 hours after the cardiomyocytes are damaged, stabilizes on a plateau of maximal concentration in around 24 hours, for then to fall. To detect this pattern, TnT is analyzed in multiple blood samples with set time intervals when acute coronary disease is suspected.

BIOMAK ⁽²⁾ is a study on the diagnostic accuracy for NSTEMI for cardiac troponin analyzed by different laboratory methods. The study population is patients admitted to St Olavs Hospital with suspected acute coronary syndrome. To include patients in the BIOMAK study, patients were asked to consent by post. As in numerous other studies, BIOMAK experienced a proportion of non-respondents. Information about the non-respondents is often not available but using the hospital's registers of admittance (PAS), we were able to extract anonymous data about the patients' age, gender, and discharge diagnoses.

In this demographic, epidemiological study, the goal was to decide whether the responding population for the BIOMAK study was different than the non-responding one. Comparing the two populations is valuable to conclude on BIOMAK's external validity. If there is no significant difference between the two populations, the results from the BIOMAK study should likely be more directly applicable to the general population of patients admitted to hospital with suspicion of ischemic heart disease.

Materials and methods

Main population

Inclusion criteria for the BIOMAK study were that the patient was over 18 years old, did not have a ST-elevation myocardial infarction when admitted (STEMI), understood Norwegian and that the "myocardial infarction laboratory panel" was ordered during the patient's hospital stay. The "infarction panel" included – amongst others – cardiac troponin I (two types) and cardiac troponin T.

Patients being admitted and meeting the inclusion criteria, were asked for consent. Some patients were asked for written consent during their hospital stay. For those who did not consent during their hospital stay, letters were sent within 8 weeks after discharge. All patients were given the same information and asked the same questions. They were asked to consent by signing the paper and returning it to a nurse or in the pre-paid envelope by post. All consents were collected by the BIOMAK project administration. By signing the paper, the patients consented for the use of their blood samples and the gain of access to their medical records to use information about their health. The letter is attached in *appendix 1*. About 4-5 weeks after the first letter was sent, the patients who had still not responded were sent a reminder with the same information.

Inclusion and data collection

The inclusion of patients in BIOMAK took place from 15th of January 2020, until GoLive for Helseplattformen on the 12th of November 2022. All patients who were asked for consent by letter are included in this sub-project in BIOMAK. The date of postage is used when calculating the patients' age. Only patients over the age of 18 were included. Birth years are categorized into 5-year intervals. This is done to maintain anonymity for the non-responding participants.

Information about hospital encounters - both out-patient contacts and hospital stays -, gender, birth year, diagnoses and eventual death are extracted from PAS, death being updated for the last time on the 31st of August 2023. A list of diagnoses relevant to the study was made before the project, without any knowledge of prevalence in the study population. It is based on the ICD-10 diagnostic system. This list is included below. All the diagnoses and diagnostic groups are thought to be relevant for the study and are categorized into heart relevant diagnoses, relevant differential diagnoses and relevant comorbidity. Some diagnoses are simplified into diagnostic groups and ICD-10 chapters as further detail level is not needed and to maintain anonymity. Regional Etisk Komité (REK) approved the list of diagnoses and its degree of detail, and the extraction of patient information. REK did not approve extraction of which department the patients were admitted to.

Extraction of patient data was done digitally, by going through a list of recently admitted patients and including those given one or more diagnoses from the list. Only diagnoses given in contacts during the last 8 weeks (about 2 months) before the letter was sent are used. Patients with no relevant diagnoses are included in the extraction of data and are listed as "No diagnosis / Ingen diagnose".

LIST OF ICD-10 DIAGNOSTIC GROUPS:

Heart relevant diagnostic groups: I20: Angina pectoris

- I21: Acute myocardial infarction
- I21.0: Acute transmural myocardial infarction of anterior wall
- I21.1: Acute transmural myocardial infarction of inferior wall
- I21.2: Acute transmural myocardial infarction of other sites
- 121.3: Acute transmural myocardial infarction of unspecified site
- I21.4: Acute subendocardial myocardial infarction
- I21.9 Acute myocardial infarction, unspecified
- I22: Subsequent myocardial infarction
- I25: Chronic ischemic heart disease

Differential diagnoses of interest:

G45.9: Transient cerebral ischemic attack, unspecified

- I26: Pulmonary embolism
- 130: Acute pericarditis (pericarditis acuta)
- 138: Endocarditis, valve unspecified
- I40: Acute myocarditis (myocarditis acuta)
- I41: Myocarditis in diseases classified elsewhere
- 144: Atrioventricular and left bundle-branch block
- 145: Other conduction disorders
- 147: Paroxysmal tachycardia
- I48: Atrial fibrillation and flutter
- 149: Other cardiac arrhythmias (arrythmia cordis)
- I50: Heart failure
- I10: Essential (primary) hypertension
- 161: Intracerebral hemorrhage (haemorrhagia cerebri)
- 162: Other nontraumatic intracranial hemorrhage
- 163: Cerebral infarction
- 164: Stroke, not specified as hemorrhage or infarction
- J40-J47: Chronic lower respiratory diseases
- K: Chapter XI (K00-K93) Diseases of the digestive system
- M80-M85: Disorders of bone density and structure
- R00: Abnormalities of heartbeat

R07.4: Chest pain, unspecified

R10.4: Other and unspecified abdominal pain

R42: Dizziness and giddiness

R45.8: Other symptoms and signs involving emotional state

R55: Syncope and collapse

Relevant comorbidity: E10-14: Diabetes Mellitus

N18: Chronic kidney disease

No diagnosis

Anonymity

The study is approved by Regional Etisk Komité (REK). REK gave strict limitations on how to obtain and handle data from patients who did not consent. All data about these patients were handled anonymously. Other data and combinations of data than what was used in this study were not available for this study.

Study populations

The study population can be divided into two subpopulations: the consenting population and the non-consenting population. The two populations were compared on age, gender, and diagnoses.

Statistical analyses

All mathematical calculations were conducted in Microsoft Excel. Prevalence of diagnoses was calculated as a proportion of patients who had at least one instance of the diagnosis as discharge diagnosis within 8 weeks before they were contacted by mail. This was done for each diagnose in both the consenting and non-consenting population. Furthermore, the difference between proportions in the consenting and non-consenting populations was calculated with a 95% confidence interval (CI). Calculations to compare rate of response in the male and female populations and based on age, were also done. The calculations of differences between gender and age groups were also done with a 95% CI.

The calculations of CI were done as suggested as the recommended methods in chapter 6 "Proportions and their differences" of the book *Statistics with confidence*, 2nd edition ⁽³⁾. The formulas are shown in *appendix 2*. The results were then colour coded to look for patterns, and then extracted into figures to summarize and give a visual representation of the most important findings. The figures were made in SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA) in close cooperation with the main supervisor.

Confidence intervals

When doing many statistical comparisons (in this study more than 100) it is difficult to use regular statistical tests and p-values, because the probability for p<0,05 due to chance is high. It is the size of the difference in prevalence between the two compared groups that is of interest. In this study the results are presented with 95% CI to evaluate the differences and the uncertainty in these differences.

Results

The study population

The total number of patients asked for consent was 7497. 20 patients were under the age of 18 and not included; this gives a total of n=7477. 3557 patients responded and 3920 did not respond. The response rate was 47,6%. 37

patients were not given any relevant diagnosis and are listed as "no diagnosis/ingen diagnose" in the data, 14 of them responded.

Gender	Responder	Non-responder
Male	1928 (25,8%)	2005 (26,8%)
Female	1629 (21,8%)	1915 (25,6%)
Both	3557 (47,6%)	3920 (52,4%)

Table 1: number of patients in the responding and non-responding populations divided into gender.

Gender and age differences

The male population responded significantly more than the female population. The difference in response rate between men and women was 3,1% (95% CI=0,8-5,3). Still, most of both genders did not respond.

The number of patients increased with age until 80 for both men and women and the age group with most patients is 75-79 years old for both genders, as shown in *figure 1*. The response rate also increases with age and was highest for the age groups with most patients; for the ages 55 to 79 there were more respondents than non-respondents. For the younger (20-49) and the older age groups (85-94) there was a lower response rate, and thus more non-respondents. These groups were also the ones with lower number of patients.





In red: percentage of BIOMAK's total number of patients per age group

In blue: difference between non-respondents and respondents in percentage with 95% CI. Positive differences mean more non-responders, negative differences mean more respondents.

Differences in prevalence of disease

Most of the heart relevant diagnostic groups (*Table* 2) had more responders than non-responders, in other words a negative difference between non-responders and responders. The four largest groups in number of patients had differences in response rates over 2% (I20, I21, I21.4, I25).

Diagnostic group	Non-response	Response	Total	Difference	CI lower limit	CI upper limit
I20: Angina pectoris	239	343	582	-3.5	-4.8	-2.3
I21: Acute myocardial infarction	210	313	523	-3.4	-4.6	-2.3
121.0: Acute transmural myocardial infarction of anterior wa	23	37	60	-0.5	-0.9	0.0
121.1: Acute transmural myocardial infarction of inferior wall	20	40	60	-0.6	-1.1	-0.2
I21.2: Acute transmural myocardial infarction of other site	12	14	26	-0.1	-0.4	0.2
121.3: Acute transmural myocardial infarction of unspecified	2	1	3	0.0	-0.1	0.2
I21.4: Acute subendocardial myocardial infarction	133	217	350	-2.7	-3.7	-1.7
I21.9: Acute myocardial infarction, unspecified	55	91	146	-1.2	-1.8	-0.5
122: Subsequent myocardial infarction	3	2	5	0.0	-0.1	0.2
125: Chronic ischemic heart disease	548	741	1289	-6.9	-8.6	-5.1

Table 2: Heart relevant diagnostic groups. The differences between non-respondents and respondents are given in percentages with a 95% CI.

Some of the differential diagnoses of interest also had a negative difference between non-respondents and respondents; 110: *Essential hypertension* and the arrythmia diagnoses (144, 145, 147, 148, 149 and R00) all had high response rates. 148: Atrial fibrillation and flutter was the largest group in number of patients (n=1488) and had the highest response rate (7,0% difference between non-respondents and respondents), see *Table 3*.

Other diagnostic groups had a low response rate. J40-J47: *Chronic lower respiratory diseases* and R10.4: *Other and unspecified abdominal pain* had differences of respectively 1,8% and 1,6% between non-respondents and respondents. R45.8: *Other symptoms and signs involving emotional state* had a difference of 3,0%. The largest patient group is R07.4: *Chest pain, unspecified*. This diagnosis was given to 3229 patients, and the difference between non-respondents and respondents was 3,8%.

15 of the 26 relevant differential diagnoses showed no significant difference between non-respondents and respondents. This list includes a variety of diagnostic groups, both cardiovascular, structural, neurological, pulmonary and digestive (G45.9, I26, I30, I38, I40, I41, I44, I50, I61-I64, K00-K93, M80-M85, R42, R55).

Diagnostic group	Non-response	Response	Total	Difference	CI lower limit	CI upper limit
I10: Essential (primary) hypertension	621	711	1332	-4.1	-5.9	-2.4
G45.9: Transient cerebral ishcemic attack, unspecified	17	14	31	0.0	-0.3	0.3
I26: Pulmonary embolism	84	68	152	0.2	-0.4	0.9
130: Acute pericarditis (pericarditis acuta)	48	50	98	-0.2	-0.7	0.3
I38: Endocarditis, valve unspecified	0	2	2	-0.1	-0.2	0.0
I40: Acute myocarditis (myocarditis acuta)	2	2	4	0.0	-0.2	0.1
I41: Myocarditis in diseases classified elsewhere	2	2	4	0.0	-0.2	0.1
144: Atrioventricular and left bundle-branch block	101	125	226	-0.9	-1.7	-0.2
I45: Other conduction disorders	40	58	98	-0.6	-1.2	-0.1
I47: Paroxysmal tachycardia	144	197	341	-1.9	-2.8	-0.9
I48: Atrial fibrillation and flutter	649	839	1488	-7.0	-8.8	-5.2
I49: Other cardiac arrhythmias (arythmia cordis)	300	385	685	-3.2	-4.5	-1.9
I50: Heart failure	455	396	851	0.5	-1.0	1.9
I61: Intracerebral hemorrhage (haemorrhagia cerebri)	6	5	11	0.0	-0.2	0.2
162: Other nontraumatic intracranial hemorrhage	1	3	4	-0.1	-0.2	0.1
I63: Cerebral infarction	61	49	110	0.2	-0.4	0.7
164: Stroke, not specified as hemorrhage or infarction	2	1	3	0.0	-0.1	0.2
J40-J47: Chronic lower respiratory diseases	306	212	518	1.8	0.7	3.0
K: Chapter XI (K00-K93) Diseases of the digestive system	762	675	1437	0.5	-1.3	2.2
M80-M85: Disorders of bone denisty and structure	186	162	348	0.2	-0.8	1.1
R00: Abnormalities of heartbeat	145	170	315	-1.1	-2.0	-0.2
R07.4: Chest pain, unspecified	1764	1465	3229	3.8	1.6	6.1
R10.4: Other and unspecified abdominal pain	276	195	471	1.6	0.5	2.7
R42: Dizziness and giddiness	191	177	368	-0.1	-1.1	0.9
R45.8: Other symptoms and signs involving emotional state	221	93	314	3.0	2.1	3.9
R55: Syncope and collapse	289	260	549	0.1	-1.1	1.2

 Table 3: Differential diagnoses of interest. The differences between non-respondents and respondents are given in percentages with a 95% CI.

In the diagnostic group I10-I14: *Diabetes mellitus* there were more non-respondents than respondents. The groups N18: *Chronic kidney disease* and *No diagnosis* showed no significant difference between non-respondents and respondents.

Diagnostic group	Non-response	Response	Total	Difference	CI lower limit	CI upper limit
E10-E14: Diabetes mellitus	370	280	650	1.6	0.3	2.8
N18: Chronic kidney disease	203	150	353	1.0	0.0	1.9
No diagnosis	23	14	37	0.2	-0.1	0.5

Table 4: Relevant comorbidity. The differences between non-respondents and respondents are given in percentages with a 95% CI.

		Proportion of all						
	0%	10%	20%	30%	40%			
E10-E14:Diabetes mellitus		☆	 F	-0-1				
G45.9: Transient cerebral ischemic attack, unspecified	☆		Ø					
10: Essential (primary) hypertension	H	-0	☆					
20: Angina pectoris								
21.0: Acute transmural myocardial infarction of anterior wall	☆		Ю					
21.1: Acute transmural myocardial infarction of inferior wall	☆		Ю					
21.2: Acute transmural myocardial infarction of other sites	☆		Ø					
21.3: Acute transmural myocardial infarction of unspecified site	☆		0					
21.4: Acute subendocardial myocardial infarction	5	r ⊢ o	- Î					
21.9: Acute myocardial infarction, unspecified	☆		Ю					
21: Acute myocardial infarction								
22: Subsequent myocardial infarction	☆		Ø					
25: Chronic ischemic heart disease			☆					
30: Acute pericarditis (pericarditis acuta)	\$		ю					
38: Endocarditis, valve unspecified								
40: Acute myocarditis (myocarditis acuta)	\$		6)					
41: Mvocarditis in diseases classified elsewhere	\$, a					
44: Atrioventricular and left bundle-branch block			Ю					
45: Other conduction disorders	<u>አ</u>		Ю					
47: Paroxysmal tachycardia	4	-						
48: Atrial fibrillation and flutter			\$					
49: Other cardiac arrhythmias (arrythmia cordis)	1 0 1		-					
150: Heart failure		\$	' <u> </u>					
61: Intracerebral bemorrhage (baemorrhagia cerebri)	☆	~	14					
62: Other nontraumatic intracranial bemorrhage	×		64					
63: Cerebral infarction	м Ф		H H	1				
64: Stroke, not specified as hemorrhade or infarction	~ ☆		45					
140: Chronic lower respiratory diseases	А	<∽	147					
M80: Disorders of bone density and structure		A						
M81: Disorders of bone density and structure	4			· 1				
M84: Disorders of bone density and structure	×							
M85: Disorders of bone density and structure	A ~							
R00: Abnormalities of heartheat	ж "							
	й							
P10.4: Other and unspecified abdominal pain		~	1					
	~	M						
R42. Dizziness and gludiness	۲. ۲.				1			
R45.6. Other symptoms and signs involving emotional state	۲ ۲	~			-1			
Roo: Syncope and collapse		¥		-				
NO GIAGNOSES	र् <u>भ</u>		P					

Figure 4: Diagnostic groups independent of gender and age. In red stars: percentage of the total number of patients In blue: difference between non-respondents and respondents in percentage with a 95% CI. Positive differences mean more non-responders, negative differences mean more respondents.

Death

6851 patients were still alive when data was extracted, 3356 of these responded, 3495 did not respond. 626 patients were deceased at the time of extraction, 201 had responded, 425 had not. The difference between respondents and non-respondents in the living and deceased populations is 5,2% (95% CI = 4,0-6,4). This means that even though most of both groups did not respond, a larger part of the living population responded as compared to the deceased.

Discussion

Most of the ischemic, hypertension and arrythmia diagnostic groups were more common amongst the responders than non-responders. There were more non-responders with the diagnostic groups J40-J47, R10.4, R45.8 and R07.4. The other 15 differential diagnoses showed no significant difference between non-respondents and respondents. Of the relevant comorbidities only E10-E14: *Diabetes mellitus* had a difference, more of the non-respondents than respondents had diabetes.

As for the gender differences, men and women responded very similarly per age group, but a larger percentage of the men responded. There were also more male patients in the study population. The patients aged 20-50 had more non-respondents than respondents, while the patients aged 60-80 had more respondents. Others have shown that survey response rates tend to be negatively correlated with age ⁽⁶⁾, and this seems to be the case also for this study up until the age of 80.

The same study found that "respondents to postal surveys have shown to be more likely to be younger". This suggest that the age differences found in the BIOMAK data may vary from other research, even though this study was conducted over 35 years ago.

The five diagnostic groups (J40-J47, R10.4, R45.8, R07.4, E10-E14) that had a low response rate all have a difference under 4%. These are what can be seen as non-cardiac diagnoses, but their relevance to the diagnostic algorithm of NSTEMI is important as these diagnoses often present with what can resemble chest pain or heart disease (except diabetes). It is positive that the differences were relatively small, as this indicates that there is not much difference between the population that responded to BIOMAK, and the general population of patients admitted to hospital with suspicion of ischemic heart disease. Still, the largest diagnostic group R07.4 *Chest pain, unspecified*, was given to 43% of BIOMAK's patients (n=3229). The difference between non-respondents and respondents among patients recieving this diagnosis was 3,8%, which is not a large difference, but 1465 patients did not respond. With that many patients, one can argue that 3,8% is a more important difference than for smaller diagnostic groups, where differences under 5% hardly does have any significance for the external validity of BIOMAK's results.

On the other hand, most cardiac diagnostic groups (ischemia, hypertension, arrythmia) had high response rates. It is possible that these patients responded to heart disease research because they have a personal interest in this kind of research as they have diseases with an important symptomatic burden, and they have frequent hospital check-ups and doctor appointments ⁽⁶⁾. Also, most of the ones given a diagnosis of acute myocardial infarction responded. The diagnosis I21.4: *Acute subendocardial myocardial infarction* was given to 4,6% of the patients, which is few, given that this is a study on diagnostic accuracy of troponins, which again are used to diagnose NSTEMI. When including patients to BIOMAK it has been observed that patients admitted with type 2 AMI because of e.g. severe arrythmias, are discharged with arrythmia diagnoses and not AMI. Why is it that doctors do not discharge patients with heart attack diagnoses, when the patients fill the diagnostic criteria of a "rise-and-fall" pattern in cTnt? All the arrythmia diagnoses (I44, I45, I47, I48, I49, R00) had more respondents than non-respondents, and I48: *Atrial fibrillation and flutter* had a difference of 7,0%, which should be considered as important (>5%). The diagnosis was given to 1488 patients. In addition to I48: *Atrial fibrillation and flutter*, one more diagnosis was given to 1289 patients. These are both very relevant diagnostic groups, with many patients and important differences between non-respondents and respondents, and it is positive that so many responded to the study.

The patients who did not get a conclusive cardiological diagnosis, such as the 43% with unspecified chest pain, responded less. A considerable number of patients reached out via phone or e-mail to BIOMAK's administration because they were unsure if their participation was indeed wanted, given that they did not have a heart attack. It is desirable to question the wording of the information letter the patients were sent. The information letter was called "Request for participation in research project - *Biomarkers in patients admitted with suspicion of acute heart attack*" and in the beginning of the letter (appendix 1 (in Norwegian)) it was written "This is a question for you to participate in

a research project of how the presence of various substances in the blood can be used to detect or rule out that patients have an acute heart attack, or a possible higher risk of getting a heart attack or other severe cardiovascular diseases. The project is important to improve the diagnostics and treatment for patients where these diseases are suspected." This wording and focus on heart attack can be root for misunderstanding, as so many did not understand if they were wanted in the research. It is also possible that not all who were in doubt reached out to verify whether their participation was wanted or not. This is a weakness in BIOMAK, and the project may have lost several consents due to this.

BIOMAK has a relatively low response rate. 47,5% is according to Borg and Gall "unacceptable" ⁽⁶⁾. The Helseundersøkelsen i Nord-Trøndelag (HUNT) studies are similar studies in that they use postal questionnaires sent to the same demographic population as BIOMAK (Trøndelag). In HUNT4⁽⁷⁾ the response rate was 51,9% for women and 40,1% for men, 46% for both. This differs from BIOMAK, where men responded more than women. Still, HUNT4 has a similar response rate as BIOMAK. Central studies within the same discipline, such as APACE ^(8,9) and High STEACS ⁽¹⁰⁾ do not include their response rates in their reports, as they should do according to the STARD 2015 guidelines ⁽¹¹⁾. This makes it difficult to conclude on whether the studies resemble in response rates. It has been suggested ⁽⁶⁾ that deceased non-respondents should not take part when calculating the response rate. In this case, the response rate for BIOMAK increases to 50,4% (total number of patients minus deceased non-respondents equals a new n; 7477-425=7052). On the other hand, it has been shown that response rates decreased during the Covid-19 pandemic ⁽¹²⁾, and the inclusion for BIOMAK started early 2020 and lasted until late fall 2022. Another study ⁽¹³⁾, though old (1998), have shown that non-respondents showed more psychological diseases than respondents. A Danish study ⁽¹⁴⁾ on response rates in postal questionnaires showed a response rate of 58,7% in 2017. This study also found that people with lower sociodemographic status had a low rate of response. All this together can explain the low response rate in BIOMAK.

One issue with a low response rate is that this is said to increases the risk of non-response bias. The purpose of this study was to see if there was a difference in the health of BIOMAK's study population and the general population of patients admitted to hospital with suspicion of ischemic heart disease. If the non-respondents have a better or poorer health status, the findings of BIOMAK do not represent the population, because this population appears to be healthier or sicker than it truly is. Research from 2019⁽⁵⁾ suggests that the response rate of survey studies do not correspond to non-response bias. Also, the differences between non-respondents and respondents for most of the diagnostic groups in this study are so small, that they are not likely to affect the external validity of BIOMAKS findings in a significant manner. The largest absolute differences were for diagnostic groups with more respondents than non-respondents, which is only beneficial as this strengthens the validity of the findings in BIOMAK.

A weakness with this study, is that we were not allowed to use detailed data about the non-responders. It was therefore not possible to study the differences within diagnostic groups or age groups. To enhance the strength of this study, it would be favourable to do a comparison of the diagnoses based on age groups, to see if there are differences between age groups in prevalence of disease. With an increasing number of patients with increasing age, one can think that the older the population gets, the more diagnoses they have, but to conclude on this, one would have to conduct a more thorough study. Comparing diagnoses and gender could also enlighten more on the differences between men and women.

Conclusion:

In conclusion, there are differences between the non-responding and responding populations in BIOMAK, concerning both gender, age and diagnoses. The responding population had more chronic and cardiological diagnoses such as arrythmias, angina pectoris and acute myocardial infarction, whilst the non-responding population had more diagnoses like unspecified chest pain and symptoms involving an emotional state. The young and very old responded less, and men responded more than women. For further research, comparing the diagnoses with age and gender would be favourable.

References:

1. Robert A Byrne, Xavier Rossello, J J Coughlan, Emanuele Barbato, Colin Berry, Alaide Chieffo, Marc J Claeys, Gheorghe-Andrei Dan, Marc R Dweck, Mary Galbraith, Martine Gilard, Lynne Hinterbuchner, Ewa A

Jankowska, Peter Jüni, Takeshi Kimura, Vijay Kunadian, Margret Leosdottir, Roberto Lorusso, Roberto F E Pedretti, Angelos G Rigopoulos, Maria Rubini Gimenez, Holger Thiele, Pascal Vranckx, Sven Wassmann, Nanette Kass Wenger, Borja Ibanez, ESC Scientific Document Group, 2023 ESC Guidelines for the management of acute coronary syndromes: Developed by the task force on the management of acute coronary syndromes of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC), *European Heart Journal*, Volume 44, Issue 38, 7 October 2023, Pages 3720–3826, https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehad191

- 2. BIOMAK research protocol
- Douglas G Altman, David Machin, Trevor N Bryant, Martin J Gardner, editors. Statistics with confidence. 2nd ed. BMJ Books; 2000.
- 4. Charles H Hennekens, Julie E. Buring, Sherry L Mayrent, editor. Epidemiology in medicine. Boston/Toronto: Little, Brown and Company; 1987.
- Hendra R, Hill A. Rethinking Response Rates: New Evidence of Little Relationship Between Survey Response Rates and Nonresponse Bias. Eval Rev. 2019 Oct;43(5):307-330. doi: 10.1177/0193841X18807719. Epub 2018 Dec 23. PMID: 30580577.
- McColl E, Jacoby A, Thomas L, Soutter J, Bamford C, Steen N, Thomas R, Harvey E, Garratt A, Bond J. Design and use of questionnaires: a review of best practice applicable to surveys of health service staff and patients. Health Technol Assess. 2001;5(31):1-256. doi: 10.3310/hta5310. PMID: 11809125. (chapter 6: Enhancing response rates)
- Eiksund S, Sliper J, Opdahl S, Kvistad K, Fossland Moa P. Rangul V, Krokstad S, von Heimburg D, Gravaas B, Sund E. Participation, health, and health determinants in HUNT4 among inhabitants in Trøndelag with and without immigrant background in 2019. Levanger. HUNT forskningssenter. 2022 Jun.
- Boeddinghaus J, Twerenbold R, Nestelberger T, Badertscher P, Wildi K, Puelacher C, du Fay de Lavallaz J, Keser E, Rubini Giménez M, Wussler D, Kozhuharov N, Rentsch K, Miró Ò, Martin-Sanchez FJ, Morawiec B, Stefanelli S, Geigy N, Keller DI, Reichlin T, Mueller C; APACE Investigators. Clinical Validation of a Novel High-Sensitivity Cardiac Troponin I Assay for Early Diagnosis of Acute Myocardial Infarction. Clin Chem. 2018 Sep;64(9):1347-1360. doi: 10.1373/clinchem.2018.286906. Epub 2018 Jun 25. PMID: 29941469.
- Reichlin T, Hochholzer W, Bassetti S, Steuer S, Stelzig C, Hartwiger S, Biedert S, Schaub N, Buerge C, Potocki M, Noveanu M, Breidthardt T, Twerenbold R, Winkler K, Bingisser R, Mueller C. Early diagnosis of myocardial infarction with sensitive cardiac troponin assays. N Engl J Med. 2009 Aug 27;361(9):858-67. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0900428. PMID: 19710484.
- Shah ASV, Anand A, Strachan FE, Ferry AV, Lee KK, Chapman AR, Sandeman D, Stables CL, Adamson PD, Andrews JPM, Anwar MS, Hung J, Moss AJ, O'Brien R, Berry C, Findlay I, Walker S, Cruickshank A, Reid A, Gray A, Collinson PO, Apple FS, McAllister DA, Maguire D, Fox KAA, Newby DE, Tuck C, Harkess R, Parker RA, Keerie C, Weir CJ, Mills NL; High-STEACS Investigators. High-sensitivity troponin in the evaluation of patients with suspected acute coronary syndrome: a stepped-wedge, cluster-randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2018 Sep 15;392(10151):919-928. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31923-8. Epub 2018 Aug 28. PMID: 30170853; PMCID: PMC6137538.
- Bossuyt PM, Reitsma JB, Bruns DE, Gatsonis CA, Glasziou PP, Irwig L, Lijmer JG, Moher D, Rennie D, de Vet HC, Kressel HY, Rifai N, Golub RM, Altman DG, Hooft L, Korevaar DA, Cohen JF; STARD Group. STARD 2015: An Updated List of Essential Items for Reporting Diagnostic Accuracy Studies. Clin Chem. 2015 Dec;61(12):1446-52. doi: 10.1373/clinchem.2015.246280. Epub 2015 Oct 28. PMID: 26510957.
- Krieger N, LeBlanc M, Waterman PD, Reisner SL, Testa C, Chen JT. Decreasing Survey Response Rates in the Time of COVID-19: Implications for Analyses of Population Health and Health Inequities. Am J Public Health. 2023 Jun;113(6):667-670. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2023.307267. Epub 2023 Apr 6. PMID: 37023386; PMCID: PMC10186824.
- van den Akker M, Buntinx F, Metsemakers JF, Knottnerus JA. Morbidity in responders and non-responders in a register-based population survey. Fam Pract. 1998 Jun;15(3):261-3. doi: 10.1093/fampra/15.3.261. PMID: 9694185.
- Christensen AI, Lau CJ, Kristensen PL, Johnsen SB, Wingstrand A, Friis K, Davidsen M, Andreasen AH. The Danish National Health Survey: Study design, response rate and respondent characteristics in 2010, 2013 and 2017. Scand J Public Health. 2022 Mar;50(2):180-188. doi: 10.1177/1403494820966534. Epub 2020 Nov 8. PMID: 33161874.
- 15. https://icd.who.int/browse10/2019/en to translate diagnostic codes

Appendix:

Appendix 1:

The information letters.

Appendix 2:

The confidence intervals are all calculated with 95% confidence, thus 1,96 is used as the z value to calculate them. To calculate the confidence intervals, we first calculated these three properties for both the consenting and nonconsenting populations.

$$A = 2r + z^2$$
; $B = z^* \sqrt{(z^2 + 4rq)}$; $C = 2(n + z^2)$

Where

r is the number of observed cases, i.e. how many had diabetes mellitus p is the proportion (r/the total of observed cases, i.e. diabetics/non-consenting population) q is 1-p z is 1,96

The lower limit of the confidence interval is then calculated as such

And the upper limit as follows:

$$u = (A + B) / C$$

To calculate the differences in proportion with a 95% CI, the same chapter of the same book gives another recommended method under the paragraph *Two samples: unpaired case;*

Lower limit = D - $\sqrt{(p_1 - l_1)^2 + (u_2 - p_2)^2}$; Upper limit = D + $\sqrt{(p_2 - l_2)^2 + (u_1 - p_1)^2}$

Where

D is the difference in proportions $p_1 - p_2$ p_1 is the non-consenting proportion p_2 is the consenting proportion l_1 and u_1 are the lower and upper limits of the confidence intervals of p_1 l_2 and u_2 are the lower and upper limits of the confidence interval of p_2

Appendix 3: Alternative figures



Figure X₁: Age groups in the male and female population In red: percentage of BIOMAK's total number of patients per age group In blue: difference between non-respondents and respondents in percentage with 95% CI.



Figure X₂: Diagnostic groups independent of gender and age. In red: percentage of the total number of patients In blue: difference between non-respondents and respondents in percentage with a 95% CI.